Brinny. From 1833 till his death he was also Preb. of Curragrangemore, Ross.

He married three times. By his first wife, a Miss Roberts, of Charleville, he had one son, Robert Francis, who was a lieut. in the 49th and in the 11th Regts., and died circa 1864. His second wife was Mary, dau. of the Revd. Thomas Gibbins, Treasurer of Cloyne; and his third wife, who survived him, was Elizabeth, eldest dau. of George Culloden Frend, of Rutha, Co. Limerick, and Rosetta, Cork. Mr. Burrowes died suddenly on the 20th September, 1861.

On the death of Richard Graves Meredyth, R. Knockavilly, which occurred on the 22nd of April, 1871, that parish was joined to Brinny.

James Stevenson, born at Mountrath, Queen’s County, on 20 Dec., 1827, was son of the Rev. William Stevenson, Rector of Killconbrock, dio. Leighlin.

He was a scholar of T.C.D. in 1847; grad. B.A. in 1849; M.A. 1861. He was ordained Deacon 29th August, 1852; and Priest, 19th Dec., 1853, both at Cork. He was Curate of Bruhenny, or Churchtown, Cloyne, from 1852 to 1860; and Curate of Mogeeshia from 1860 to 1861.

He married Mary Jane, dau. of J. T. Hornibrook, of Rockfort, Brinny, but left no issue.

Rev. J. Stevenson resigned in 1883, and resided in Bandon, where he died on the 17th of March, 1898, in his 71st year, and was buried at Brinny.

1883. ROBERT FORSYTH CLARKE, R. Brinny, vice Stevenson.

The church population of the union is about 240.

Brinny Church, which was an unsightly structure, has been entirely remodelled under the present Incumbent. A tower has been built; the church handsomely re-seated; the chancel laid with encaustic tiling; stained glass windows put in. In short, the internal fittings are all entirely new.

Divine Service is held on Sundays and chief festivals at 12 noon and 6.

The union is under diocesan scheme. The assessment is £134, and stipend of Rector, £250.

The present Incumbent holds a "good service" pension.

The Parochial School, under the management of the Rector, has 25 children on roll. Amongst the parochial organizations are—Branch of Young Women’s Christian Association, Prot. Orphan Society, various missions, etc.

There is a fine Glebe House, with offices, and nine acres of land, free of rent.

He married Annie, dau. of George Whately, of Cork, and has issue six daughters and one son, John, B.A. T.C.D.; Div. Test.; prizes for elocution and extempore speaking. Ordained Deacon, in Hollywood Church, Co. Down, on 24th Sept., 1899, for the curacy of Gilford, Co. Down. He became for a short time Curate of Holywood, Co. Down, but his health failing, he had to give up work, and he died on the 7th October, 1902, at the early age of 26 years.

CAHERAGH.

[That is, “Stone Forts.”]

1853. Feb. 17. James Somerville Reeves, A.B., R. Caheragh (Brady).

James Somerville Reeves was son of Thomas Somerville Reeves, of Vosterberg, Cork, by Rebecca, dau. of Isaac Morgan, of Cork. (For his family, see “Burke’s Landed Gentry.”)

He grad. B.A., T.C.D., in 1847; Div. Test. 1849; M.A. 1864; B.D. and D.D. 1891.

Ordained Deacon 1849, and Priest 1850, at Hereford. Curate of Westbury, Salop, 1849-52; Curate at St. Margaret’s, Westminster, in 1853.

He married, in 1866, Eliza Martha, dau. of the Revd. Jonas Travers Jones, of Droum beg, Co. Cork, V. of Kilmacabea (Brady, II., 514; III., 266), by whom he left a son and two daughters.

During his incumbency he effected extensive improvements, reclaiming and planting the glebe lands and building the glebe house, and other works, at an expenditure, largely personal, of about £1,800.

He resigned the parish of Caheragh, owing to ill health, in May, 1890. He died at Baltimore, Co. Cork, on the 8th of October, 1897, aged 73 years.


Wilson became R. St. Anne’s Shandon. Cork, in April, 1897.


The church population of the parish is about 135.
Memorial stained glass window and memorial tablets have been recently placed in Caheragh Church.

Divine Service is held twice on Sundays and chief holydays. Holy Communion every Sunday.

The parish is under diocesan scheme.

The interest on private endowment, £8, and the bequest of H. H. Newman, £10, go towards the assessment, which is £100, and the stipend of the Rector is £200.

There is a small parochial school.

Among the parochial organizations are—Branch of G. F. S., Bible Class, etc.

The Glebe House, which is a good one, is situated near the church. It was built in 1877; at a cost of £1,800.

There are ten acres of glebe land, given to the parish by the late Adam Newman, Esq., of Monkstown Castle, Co. Cork. By the exertions of the present Incumbent, the glebe is rendered free of charge.

Edmund William Beatty, b. at Oldcastle; Co. Meath, 16th June, 1863, youngest son of the Revd. John Beatty, LL.D., Rector of Moynalty, Co. Meath; graduated in T.C.D. in 1885; Sen. Mod. and gold medalist in Logics and Ethics; Div. Test. (1st class), 1887; Abp. King's Prizeman, 1886; B.D. Dec., 1891. Ordained Deacon 10 July, 1887, and Priest 27 May, 1888, at Cork, for the curacy of Abbeystrewry, Ross, which he held till 1892; Curate of St. Nicholas, Cork, 1892-96; Curate-in-charge of Farahy, Cloyne, 1896-7.

Married, 8th January, 1889, Susan Eva Meredith, elder dau. of the late Charles Clerke, of Skibbereen. Issue—Anne; Charles St. John, b. 14 Oct., 1893; Edmund Thomas Meredith.

Beatty became R. Cork Beg, Cloyne, in May, 1901. Many improvements were made in Caheragh Church during his incumbency. A carved oak pulpit was erected in memory of the Revd. James Somerville Reeves, by his wife and children; a brass lectern was dedicated, with the inscription, "To the glory of God, and in loving memory of Adam Newman, who entered into rest March 3rd, 1898, aged 90; and to whom this parish is indebted for the site of this Church, erected A.D. 1829." Also brass chancel rails, carved oak reredos, holy table, prayer desk, panelling, and white marble steps to chancel, with mosaic pavement. There is a silver paten, inscribed, "G. H., Sterling, G. H."; and a silver chalice, with Irish harp.

A. J. W. Whitley, eldest son of Revd. John B. Whitley, Preb. of Templebryan, Ross (q. v.) Educated at St. Faughnan's, Ross, and Midleton College; T.C.D., B.A., 1885; Div. Test. (2nd class), 1886. Ordained Deacon, 1886, for curacy of Naas, dio. Dublin, 1886-90; Curate Fermoy, 1890-91; Curate Murragh, at Templemartin, 1891 to 1901.

CANNAWAY.

[It is, in Irish, "Ceann-a-Mhaigh" (pron. "Cannawee"), that is, "the head of the plain."]


He married, in 1824, Mary, second dau. of David Crawford, of Ballyshannon, by whom he had issue, inter alios—(1) Robert, J.P., of Crookstown, Co. Cork, d. 7 May, 1903, who m. Sophia, dau. of the late Henry Braddell, of Mallow, and has issue; (2) Richard, major-gen. R.E., retired, who twice married, and has issue; and (3) Augustus Charles James, who m. Isabella, dau. of the late William Clarke, of Farran. There were three other sons—William, David, and Edward, deceased.


There were two other daughters of Rev. Robt. Warren—Emma and Mary, deceased.

Rev. Robert Warren died on the 7th of May, 1879, in his 85th year; and on his death the parish of Cannaway was joined to Moviddy (q. v.)
CORK.]

CARRIGALINE. 31

CARRIGALINE.

With part of Liscleary and Kilmoney.

[The name signifies "the Rock of the O'Laighins," or "O'Linns," or "O'Lehanes."

In the "Taxation of Pope Nicholas" (1291), it is called "Ecclesia de Beannier," that is, "the Church of the Peaks," or "Pinnacles." This was corrupted into "Beaver," or "Beavor," a name given to the parish in the old Ecclesiastical Records.]

The present parish of Douglas was formerly part of the parish of Carrigaline, and its church was a chapel of ease to that parish.

Bishop Dive Downes says (A.D. 1700), "This" (the remains of an old church at Douglas), "was, about 100 years ago, the church of Carrickoline parish, before the new church was built where it now is, in the centre of ye parish."

1855. Nov. 22. JOHN WATKINS BENN, A.B., R. Carrigaline (Brady).

John Watkins Benn, son of James Benn, was born in the County Antrim in 1814. He entered T.C.D. in November, 1833; obtained honours in Classics, Hebrew, and Divinity; grad. B.A. in 1839. He was ordained Deacon in Sept., 1839, by Bp. of Kildare, and Priest in May, 1840, at Killaloe. He was Curate of St. Paul's, Portarlington, from September, 1839, to September, 1844, when he became Rector of same.

Mr. Benn married, in 1853, Maria Louisa (who still survives), dau. of General C. Hamilton, C.B., and the Hon. Sarah Hamilton, dau. of the second Lord Castlemain, and had issue six children, five sons and one daughter, who married a Dr. Kidd, at Blackheath.

Rev. J. W. Benn resigned Carrigaline in 1872, and went to England. He died at Dorking on the 20th of October, 1874, in the 60th year of his age.

On the death of John Busteed, Preb. and Vicar of Liscleary, in 1865, that parish was joined to Carrigaline.


1875. February 9. The chapelry of Douglas was constituted a separate parish, and the Rector of Carrigaline, S. Hayman, went to Douglas (q. v.), and WILLIAM CLARKE WALKER, M.A. was appointed Rector of Carrigaline (q. v.)

William Clarke Walker was son of the Rev. Thomas Walker, R. Kilmaulooa. T.C.D., B.A., 1834; M.A. 1857. Was ordained in 1835; was Curate of Glanbarrahan, Ross, in
1837; P. C. Fermoy, 1848-61; P. and V. Timoleague, Ross, 1861-67; R. Ballinadee, and Treasurer of Cork, 1867-75.

He married, on 7th July, 1863, Catherine, dau. of the Rev. Robert Halburd, P. Kilbrittain, and widow of W. Colburn.

He resigned and retired in 1880; and he died on the 4th February, 1897, aged 88 years.

1880. WILLIAM SPOTTSWOOD GREEN, M.A., R. Carrigaline, vice Walker.

W. S. Green, only son of Charles Green, J.P., of Youghal, who was only son of William Spottswood Green, of that place, by Rebecca, dau. of Roger Green, of same. T.C.D., B.A., and Div. Test., 1871; M.A. 1874. Was ordained Deacon, 1872, and Priest, 1873, both at Cork. Was Curate of Kenmare, Co. Kerry, 1874-77; Curate of Carrigaline, Cork, 1877-80; R. of same, 1880.

He married, on 22nd June, 1875, his cousin, Belinda Beatty, second dau. of James Butler, J.P., of Waterville, Co. Kerry, by Anne Margaret, dau. of Roger Green Davis, J.P., of Dromdiah, Co. Cork, and has issue a son, Charles, Sch. T.C.D., b. 23rd September, 1876; and five daughters.

Rev. W. S. Green resigned Carrigaline in 1889, on being appointed a Government Commissioner of Irish Fisheries. He is now Chief Commissioner.

1890. EDWARD GIBBINGS, M.A., R. Carrigaline, vice Green.

Gibblings became R. Kinsale in 1895.

1895. CHARLES EDWARD SCOTT, B.A., R. Carrigaline, vice Gibbings.

The following have been Curates:—In 1863, W. Sherlock; 1864, Charles Benson; 1865, Thomas Gloster; 1869, D. H. Powell; 1870, Alex. B. Waring; 1873, B. C. Fawcett; 1875, W. S. Green.

The church population is about 175.

Carrigaline Church, which was built near the old church, in 1824, has been lately re-seated in pitch-pine; new window opened in south side; chancel panelled in oak; new Holy Table; and church decorated, at a total cost of about £250.

Divine Service on Sundays and festivals at 12 noon, and Evening Service at 4.30, in licensed schoolhouse in the village.

Holy Communion, first, third, and fifth Sundays.

The parish is under diocesan scheme. The assessment is £100; the stipend of the Rector is £200.

There is a parochial school under National Board, with average attendance of 20.

A Glebe House, with offices, was built in 1876-7, at a cost of £1,670.
There is a charge to Board of Works of about £14 per annum. There are two acres of glebe land, at a rent of £4 a year.

On a stone outside the door of the vestry room of Carrigaline Church is inscribed the following:—“This Church was rebuilt in the year of our Saviour Christ, 1723. The Revd. Mr. Boyle Davis, Regr.; Mr. Philip Gillman, Mr. Richard Dorman, Churchwardens.” This Richard Dorman married, in 1699, Catherine Porter, and had issue, inter alios, (1) John, of Raffeen, who assumed the name of Porter, under the will of his cousin, Edward Porter, of Ballynaboy; (2) Edward, of Chetwynd; and (3) William, of Ballinrea, and Harbour Hill, Kinsale.


Married, 17th September, 1895, Kate Alice Smith, and has issue, Isabel Sydney.

Scott became R. Rushbrooke in December, 1899.


CARRIGROHANE.

[In the “Taxation of Pope Nicholas” (1291), it is called, “Ecclesia de Carrigraffan,” whence it may possibly mean “the rock of the engraving,” or “writing?”]

This union consists of the parishes of Carrigrohane (with Currikippane, Carigrohane beg (i. e., “Lesser Carrigrohane”), and Irniskenny.
The old parish of Currikippane (that is, "the marsh of the little sticks") has been long united to Carrigrohane. Of its ancient church only a gable now stands.

The glebe house and lands of the union were formerly in that parish. When the land was sold by the R. C. B., a part of it was purchased by the Jews, and now is the Jewish Cemetery for the South of Ireland.

Under the establishment, the rectory of Carrigrohane, associated with the rectories of Currikippane and Corbally, and one-fourth of the rectory of Kinneigh, formed the corps of the Precentorship of Cork.

1826. March II. HENRY THEOPHILUS MOORE HODDER, LL.D., Precentor (Brady).

He was second son of William Henry Moore, who assumed the additional surname of Hodder. B.A., T.C.D., he was ordained Deacon on 14th August, 1814, and Priest on 22nd December, 1816, both at Cork. In 1817 he was Curate of Ballinaboy; in 1818 R. V. of Leighmoney; in 1823 Chancellor, and in 1826 Precentor of Cork.

Dr. Hodder, who married a Miss Sanders, but left no issue, died on the 24th of November, 1864.

1865. ROBERT SAMUEL GREGG, Precentor, per mortem Hodder.

The parish of Carrigrohanebeg (which is in Cloyne diocese), was united to Carrigrohane on the resignation of William Reazon Mangan, M.A., in 1873.

(For Mangan, vide Killanully). Gregg became Dean of Cork in 1873 (vide St. Fin Barre's).

1873. FREDERICK DOBBIN, M.A., R. Carrigrohane, vice Gregg.

On the death of Thomas E. Evans, R. Inniskenny, in 1896, that parish was united to Carrigrohane.

The church population of the union, exclusive of military at Ballincollig, is about 220. There are two churches, Carrigrohane and Inniskenny, at Waterfall. The latter was served by the Revd. R. Harvey, M.A., from 1895 to 1900. The church of Carrigrohanebeg has been in ruins for 200 years.

Carrigrohane Church has been much improved in recent times. The chancel, west end, and tower and spire were erected in 1851 by the Revd. Dr. Hodder. The annexe to the body of the church was built under Revd. R. S. Gregg, after plans by Wm. Burges, Esq., architect of St. Fin Barre's Cathedral, in 1866-7. A cut stone spire, replacing one of timber and slate, was erected by the present Incumbent, after plans by W. H. Hill, Esq., of Cork, in 1896-7. In 1901, a handsome marble dado was put up in the chancel, as a me-
memorial of the late Rector of the parish, afterwards Primate Gregg. It is in panels of Cork, Carrara, and Connemara marbles—red, white and green, with artistically carved pattern, and having the inscription—"To the glory of God, and in loving memory of the Most Revd. Robert S. Gregg, D.D., sometime Rector of this parish; Bishop of Ossory and of Cork; Archbishop of Armagh, and Primate of all Ireland, 1894-6." The chancel has also been paved with mosaic.

Divine Service is held twice on each Lord's Day in Carrigrohane Church, and once on chief festivals. In Inniskenny Church, once on Lord's Day and on festivals. The latter church has undergone considerable alterations and improvements lately. The chancel walls have been panelled with red marble, with white plinth, encaustic tiling laid, and marble steps, etc.

The cost has been defrayed partly by grant from "Beresford Fund," but chiefly by Miss Hawkes, of Castle White, as memorials.

The union is under diocesan scheme. There is a partial endowment of £25 a year, from interest on capital, and a charge of £10 a year on property of the late Mrs. Moore Hodder, of Parknamore; also a charge of £50 a year on property of the late Mrs. White, of Castle White, to maintain a service at Inniskenny. The assessment is £168, and stipend of rector, £300.

The present Incumbent, who is an annuitant under the Irish Church Act, receives a "good service" pension.

There is a parochial school at Ballincollig, Carrigrohane, under Ch. Ed. So cy., with an average attendance of from 15 to 20.

Among the parochial organizations are:—Branches of the Church Workers; Church Missionary Society; Temperance Society; Colonial and Continental Society; Protestant Orphan Society, besides various other auxiliaries for missions, home and foreign, education, etc.; also classes on week days for young men and young women.

There is an excellent Glebe House, built under "Napier's Act," by the late Primate when Rector of the parish, with an addition thereto by the present Incumbent.

There are 16a. 2r. 23p. of glebe land, the various charges on which amount to about £43 a year.

Frederick Dobbin, b. in Dublin on 1st December, 1826, son of William Dobbin, of Dublin, and Mary Anne, his wife. Educated at Royal School, Dungannon. T.C.D.; Exhibitioner
and Honorman in Classics; B.A., 1850; Div. Test. (1st class); M.A. 1871; Member of Senate Dub. Univ.; Member of Gen. Synod, Dio. Council, etc. Ordained by Archbishop Whateley, on letters dimissory from Bishop of Cork, in St. Patrick’s Cathedral, Dublin, in 1851. Was Curate of Ballymodan, Bandon, from 1851 to 1858; Curate and Preacher of St. Fin Barre's Cathedral, 1858-66; Rector of Glenbarrahan, Ross, 1866-73; Canon of Cahirlag, in Cathedral of Cork, 1874; Chancellor of Cork, 1891.

Mr. Dobbin married, on 12th of May, 1857, Rebecca, dau. of Francis Low, of Merrion Castle, Co. Dublin, and has issue a son, Francis William, M.D., b. 1866; and a daughter, Mary Anne Rebecca, who was m., on 16th April, 1903, to the Revd. William Andrews Lamb, R. Kilmeen, Ross.

Chancellor Dobbin is the author of various tractates on prophetic and other Scriptural subjects.

He resigned, and retired, in June, 1902; and a presentation of valuable plate was made to him by Carrigrohane parish on the occasion.

He resided in Dublin and died there on the 25th of June, 1903.

(For Gibbings, see Kinsale.)

CULLEN.

[Joyce gives the derivation of this name as “Holly.” But Dr. Olden says: “Joyce is wrong. I know the place well, having been curate of the parish. It is pronounced by the country people, ‘Killing,’ which is ‘Cill Fhlaimn,’ “the Church of Flann.” According to Smith, too, it is “the Rectory of St. Flaman.”]

Under the Establishment, Cullen was one of the parishes comprising the corps of the Deaneary of Cork, and was a “Perpetual Curacy,” under the patronage of the Dean.

Dorman became Preb. St. Michael’s in 1886.

1887. George Deacon, P. C. Cullen, vice Dorman.
Deacon became R. Killanully in 1872; whereupon the parish of Cullen was united to Ballymarte (q.v.)
DESSERTMORE

[That is, "the great Hermitage."]


Henry Constable, son of Robert Constable, of Prior Park, Clonmel, Co. Tip. T.C.D., B.A., 1838; M.A. 1842. He was ordained Deacon by Bishop of Down, in T.C.D. Chapel, in 1839, and Priest by Abp. of Dublin, in 1840. From 1839 to 1848 he was Curate of Kilgarriff, Ross; and from 1848 to 1859 was Curate of Athnowen.

Mr. Constable published various literary works, the most important of them being "The Nature and Duration of Future Punishment," which passed through many editions; "The Restitution of All Things"; "Hades, or the Intermediate State," and several essays.

He resigned Desertmore in 1872, and went to England, where he became chaplain to the City of London Hospital, from 1873 to 1890. He died in 189—.

On his resignation, in 1872, the parish of Desertmore was united to Athnowen (q. v.). Its church was taken down, and its glebe sold.

DESSERTSERGES

[That is, "Searcus', or Fergus', Hermitage."]

1850. Oct. 16. JAMES GOLLOCK, A.B., V. Desertserges (Brady).

James Gollock, youngest son of James Gollock, of Forest, Co. Cork. T.C.D., B.A., 1822; M.A. 18—; was ordained Deacon in 1823, and Priest in 1824, at Cloyne; he was Curate of Aghinagh, Cloyne; Curate of Ballymodan, Bandon, in 1825; Curate of Inniscarra in 1827; R. V. Carrigrohanebeg, 1837-42; R. V. Brinny, 1842-50. In the latter parish, as also in Desertserges, he built a fine glebe house.

He married Wilhelmina Frederica, dau. of Major-General Elrington, of Low Hill, Worcestershire, sometime Governor of the Leeward Islands, West Indies, and had issue a son, who died young, and two daughters, Wilhelmina Rebecca, m. in 1858 to the Revd. Richard Longfield, R. Mogeely (Cloyne) (q. v.), and Rebecca Anne Louise, m. in 1866 to the Revd. Bennet C. Davidson, Incumbent of St. John's, Sandymount, Co. Dublin. Rev. B. C. Davidson (who had assumed the
name of Houston, in right of his wife's succession to a property in Co. Tyrone) died in August, 1899, leaving three sons and four daughters surviving.

Rev. James Gollock died at Desertserges, on 21st October, 1881, aged 81 years.

This family of Gollock is descended from a Walloon family, whose name originally was Gluck. This became softened into two syllables, on their migration into France, because of the persecution of the Protestants in the Low Countries by the Duke of Alva, in the sixteenth century. They continued in France till again compelled to fly from persecution on the revocation of the Edict of Nantes, in 1685, when they came to England; and the ancestor of the present family joined the army of William III., and was present at the battle of the Boyne. They settled in Ireland, and acquired landed property early in the eighteenth century. This family has long resided at Forest, Co. Cork.

1881. WALTER LAMB, who had been Curate of the parish from 1855, was appointed R. Desertserges, per mortem Gollock.

After the Disestablishment, parts of the lands of Cashelmore, Moneens, Knocknagalough, and Dangan were taken from this parish and joined to Kilimalooda and Ballymodan.

The church population of the parish is about 220.

There are two places of worship in the parish, Desertserges Parish Church and Maulnarogy Schoolhouse, licensed for Divine Worship. A new chancel was added to this church about the year 1865.

Divine Service is held on Sundays and chief festivals in the parish church at 12 noon. Holy Communion, first Sunday and festivals. In Maulnarogy Schoolhouse at 4 p.m., and Holy Communion on festivals.

The parish is under diocesan scheme. The assessment is £134, and stipend of Rector, £250.

There is a partial endowment of £500, presented by Judge Longfield.

The parochial school is Desertserges National School, nonvested (mixed), having more than 30 children on roll.

Among the parochial organizations are Branches of G. F. S., Ch. of Ireland Temperance Association, etc.

There is a substantial Glebe House, with offices, built in 1852 by the Revd. James Gollock. There are 25 acres of glebe land. Rent, £34 a year.

Walter Lamb, b. at Youghal in 1829, fourth son of the late William Andrews Lamb, of Kilcoleman Park, Co. Cork, by his

He married, in 1857, Anne Kildahl Atkin, who died in 1865, and had issue, Eliza Hannah, who died in 1866.

Mr. Lamb married, secondly, in 1870, Adeline Elizabeth, dau. of the late John Obins Woodhouse, of Omeath Park, Newry, Co. Louth, and had issue a son, William Andrews, now R. Kilmeen, Ross (q. v.); and three daughters—Marie Burleigh Lethem, m. 21 October, 1901, to Col. William Tomes Fairbrother, India Staff Corps; Ada Elizabeth Woodhouse; and Clara Gookin.

Rev. Walter Lamb, having been clergyman of Desertserges as Curate and as Rector for 44 years, died there on the 24th of October, 1899.


G. B. Fairbrother is the youngest son of the late George Berford Fairbrother, of Clonsilla Lodge, Clonsilla, Co. Dublin. He was ordained, in 1886, for the curacy of Castrachore (Midleton), Cloyne; Curate of Macroom, 1890-91; Diocesan Curate, Cork, Cloyne, and Ross, and Inspector of Schools, 1891-99.

He married, in 1891, Lilias Sarah, second daughter of the Revd. Precentor Moore, LL.D., Rector of Castrachore (Midleton), and has issue.

DOUGLAS.

[That is, "a dark stream."]

The parish of Douglas was formerly a chapelry of Carrigaline (q. v.), and in 1875. Feb. 9, it was constituted a separate parish, under the Revd. Samuel Hayman, who till then was R. Carrigaline, with Douglas, and who thereupon removed to Douglas, and by his efforts the church of this district, which had been erected in 1786, was almost entirely rebuilt, and was consecrated on the
27th of August, 1875, the cost of its erection exceeding £3,000, including presentations.

In 1885-6, he extended the nave, at a cost of £600, and laid the foundations of the tower, which was then raised to a height of 16 feet, at a cost of about £450.

Samuel Hayman, b. at South Abbey, Youghal, on 27th July, 1818, eldest son of Matthew Hayman, of that place, by his wife (m. in 1816), Helen, third dau. of Arundel Hill, of Doneraile, Co. Cork.

This Matthew Hayman was a son of Samuel Hayman, M.D., by his wife (m. in 1782), Melian, dau. and co-heiress of Matthew Jones, of Youghal. The said Samuel, M.D., was son of Rev. Atkin Hayman, V. of Ballyclough, Droumdowney, and Castle Magner (Brady, II., 29), by his wife (m. in 1742), Elizabeth, dau. of Rev. Walter Atkin, Treasurer of Cloyne; and Rev. Atkin Hayman was fifth son of Samuel Hayman, of The College, Youghal, by Elizabeth, eldest dau. and co-heiress of Richard Paradise, a French Protestant refugee (vide "Burke's Landed Gentry," "Hayman, of Youghal").

Rev. Samuel Hayman, the subject of this notice, was sixth in descent from George Heyman, or Hayman, of Minehead, in Somersetshire, who came to Ireland in 1629, and settled at Youghal.

Educated at Youghal, under the Rev. Thos. Nolan, and afterwards at Clonmel, by the Rev. R. Bell, D.D., he entered T.C.D. in October, 1835, and graduated B.A. in July, 1839. He was ordained Deacon 19th September, 1841, at Cork, and Priest, 14th August, 1842, at Killaloe. Was Curate of Glanworth, Cloyne, 1841-47; of Rathcooney (Glanmire), Cork, 1847-49; of Youghal, 1849-63; R. of Ardnageehy, 1863-67; R. Templeroan, with P. C. Doneraile, Cloyne, 1867-72; R. Carrigaline, with Douglas, Cork, 1872-75; Canon of Cork, 1874. In 1875, the parishes of Carrigaline and Douglas were separated, and Canon Hayman resigned the former, and retained the latter.

He married, on 26th September, 1854, at St. Anne's, Belfast, Emily, dau. of the Rev. Marcus Cassidy, Chancellor of Kilfenora, and Rector of Newtownards, Co. Down, and had issue a daughter, Emily Henrietta Aline, who married, on 8th April, 1889, Reginald Wallwyn-James, capt. R.A., and has issue a son, Edward Wallwyn-James. Mrs. Emily Hayman survived her husband, and died in Cork in June, 1894.

Canon Hayman had two brothers and five sisters. Of the former, Arundel Hill died young in 1836, and Matthew Jones
entered the army in 1841, serving in the 87th Royal Irish Fusiliers in India, China, and the Russian campaign in 1855, where he greatly distinguished himself, and was severely wounded at the storming of the Redan. He retired from active service in 1858, and left the army, with the rank of colonel, in 1881, and died in Dublin in January, 1889, aged 68 years.


Canon Hayman died on the 15th December, 1886, and his remains were laid in Douglas churchyard, which by him was so beautifully arranged; and is now the resting place of so many of Cork's most distinguished sons.

He was an able writer, and the author of many valuable works, theological and historical, the following being some of his publications:—"Annals of Youghal," 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th series; "Ancient Religious Foundations at Youghal"; "A Guide to Youghal, Ardmore, and the Blackwater"; "Illustrated Guide to St. Mary's Church, Youghal"; "Memorials of Youghal," etc. The following are also from his pen—"Looking Upward"; "About Footsteps"; "Feeding the Flock of God"; "Papers from a Parsonage"; "Passages from a Commonplace Book"; "Criteria," and others; besides numerous contributions to the Press on religious subjects.


Revd. G. P. Quick immediately proceeded to carry on the work of completing the tower and spire of Douglas church, as a fitting memorial to his predecessor who began it, and this was finished in 1889, at an additional expenditure of £1,635. The bell, and the clock, each costing £100, were presented by Miss Reeves, of Tramore, Douglas.

The burial-ground surrounding Douglas Church is now deserving of particular notice, as it is one of the most beautiful and well kept in the South of Ireland.

Divine Service is held in St. Luke's Church, Douglas, on
Sundays and chief festivals at 11.30 and 6 in summer, and 4.30 in winter. Holy Communion, first and third Sundays, at noon service, and on last Sunday at 8.30 a.m.; chief festivals, at 8.30 and 11.30.

The church population is about 286; Dissenters, 86.

The parish is under diocesan scheme. The assessment is £168; stipend of Rector, £300. There is a small augmentation from "Allen Bequest" of about £22 a year.

The parochial school, the St. Luke's National School, having about 50 children on roll, is held in the lecture hall, which is vested in the Rector and churchwardens.

Amongst the parochial organizations are—Branch of G. F. S.; Bible Class; South American and other Missions; Band of Hope; Parochial Library, etc.

There is an excellent Glebe House and offices, built in 1875 by Revd. S. Hayman, at a cost of about £2,000. There are about four acres of glebe land, the rent of the whole being £12 a year, besides a charge to Board of Works of £55 a year.

George Pring Quick, b. at Crewkerne, Somersetshire, 26th April, 1847, elder son of George England Quick, of Crewkerne, by his wife, Mary, dau. of John Pring, of Ashfield, Awliscombe, Devonshire. Educated at Crewkerne School (founded 1499); Owsley Exhibitioner, 1866; entered St. Mary Hall, Oxford, 1866; Dyke scholar, 1866; B.A. 1870; M.A. and S.C.L. 1874. Ordained Deacon 1870, Worcester dio., and Priest 1871, at Cork. Curate of Oldbury, dio. Worcester, 1870; Curate of Innishannon, Cork, 1871-74; of St. Paul, Dorking, 1874-5; British Chaplain at Santiago, Chili, 1876-78; and at Sao Paulo and Santos, Brazil, 1878-81; Curate of New Radford, Nottingham, 1882-3; Asst. Sec. C. P. A. S., 1883-4; Curate of Christ Church, Cork, 1884-5; R. of St. Peter's, Cork, 1885-87.

Mr. Quick married, in 1884, Mary Frances Melian, only surviving child of Thos. Stawell Quin, of Firgrove, Innishannon, by his wife, Mary, dau. of Revd. Richard Longfield Conner, M.A., of Downdaniel Castle, Innishannon, R. of St. Anne's Shandon, Cork, and by her, who died 13th December, 1891, has issue one son, Thomas Stawell Quin Pring, b. 28th November, 1891.

A very fine organ, costing £800, has lately been dedicated by the Bishop in Douglas Church, presented by the parishioners as a memorial of Queen Victoria. On the front is a beautiful gravure of late Queen, around which is the inscription, "Victoria Reg: Britt: Imp: Ind. a.d. 1837-1901."
DRINAGH.

[That is, "Blackthorn Bushes."]


Woolsey became R. Corkbeg, Cloyne, in 1875.

1875. ROBERT OLIVER NELSON ANDERSON, B.A., R. Drinagh, vice Woolsey.

R. O. N. Anderson, T.C.D., B.A., 1864. He was ordained Deacon in 1870, and Priest in 1872, both at Cork. He was Curate of Kilbrogan, Bandon, 1870-74; Curate of Tracton Abbey, 1874-75.

Anderson had to resign, owing to ill health, in 1890; and he died at Kingstown on Christmas Day in that year.


The old parish church, Christ Church, having become unfit for service, was taken down, with the exception of its tower, in 1896; and a new Gothic church, a very elegant structure, after the design of W. H. Hill, Esq., C.E., was built on a new and more convenient site, near the rectory and schools, at a cost of about £1,250. This work, much needed, and well done, was accomplished by the persevering exertion of Mr. Levingston. The new church was consecrated for the worship of God by the Rt. Revd. W. E. Meade, D.D., Bishop of the Diocese, on the 28th of May, 1897; and since then the church has been handsomely furnished.

Divine Service is held on Sundays and festivals at 12 noon and 5 p.m. Holy Communion, every Sunday and chief festivals.

The church population of the parish is about 140.

The parish is under diocesan scheme; The assessment is £134, and the stipend of Rector, £250.

A parochial school, Shandrum, N. B., non-vested (mixed), has about 50 children on roll. This schoolhouse has been lately repaired, and additions made, costing about £45.

Among the parochial organizations are—Branch of Church Temperance Association; Meetings for C. M. S. and S. A. M. S.; Weekly Prayer Meetings during winter months, etc.

A new Glebe House, which is an excellent one, was built in 1876, at a cost of £4,450, of which £1,000 was collected by the late Revd. Wm. M. Woolsey, and £450 borrowed from the Board of Works. There are 13a. 2r. 24p. of glebe land, at a rent of £37, besides rates and taxes.

Married, in 1885, Agnes Alexandrina, eld. dau. of the late Thos. Clarke, of Ballyduff House, Ferns, by his wife, Rachel, third dau. of the late George Veitch, of Middleton, Stirlingshire. Issue—William Veitch, who died 28th Nov., 1900; Phoebe Elizabeth; Colville Learmouth; Jessie; John Learmouth; Thomas Clarke.

Levingston became R. Carrigtwohill, Cloyne, in June, 1900.

1900. 29 June. JOHN BERNARD WHITE, R. Drinagh, vice Levingston.

J. B. White, b. at Macroom, Co. Cork, 19th August, 1862, son of the late Nicholas Warburton White, M.D., of Macroom, by his wife, Elizabeth, dau. of Capt. James Morgan Cooke, of Lisheen, Bantry. Educated at Tipperary Grammar School; T.C.D., Exhibitioner and first Prizeman; B.A. 1884; M.A. 1887; Div. Test (2nd class). Ordained 1890; Curate of Kilmacabea, Ross, 1890 to 1900.

Married, 26th January, 1896, Ethel Frances Mary, dau. of Brigade Surgeon T. W. B. P. Johnston, late of Summer Hill, Bandon, and has issue a son and daughter.

White became R. Schull in October, 1902.


Frederick Girling, T.C.D., B.A., and Div. Test., was ordained by Bishop Robert Gregg, in 1892, and Priest in 1893. He was Curate of Nohoval, Cork, from 1892 to 1895; Curate of Droumdaleague from 1895 to 1901; and Curate of Murragh, at Templemartin, from 1901 to 1902.

He is married, and has issue.
DROUMDALEAGUE.

[That is, "the Ridge of the two Pillar Stones." Anglicised, Drumdaleague.]


He was son of Daniel Conner, of Manch, Co. Cork. T.C.D., B.A. Was Curate of Fanlobbus in 1848. He married Anna, who d. 14th January, 1901, eldest dau. of the Revd. Godfrey Smith, V. of Kinneigh (afterwards R. V. Aghabullogue, Cloyne), by his wife, Ellen, dau. of the Revd. John Garde, of Castlemartyr, Curate of Killeagh, but had no issue.

His living was sequestered in 1860, and George Cornwall Nash, B.A., was appointed Curate-in-charge of the parish.

G. C. Nash (Brady, III., 227) left in 1869. He died on the 6th of January, 1890, aged 77 years. Conner compounded and resigned in 1871; and he died in Australia in 1885.


O'Grady became R. Kilmocomoge in 1880.

1880. JOHN STOKOE, R. Droumdaleague, vice O'Grady.

John Stokoe was ordained in 1870. He was Curate of Lisnaddill, Co. Armagh, 1870-72; Incumbent of Diamond, in that county, 1872-3; was Curate of St. Luke's, Cork, 1874-80. He resigned Droumdaleague in 1881, and became Dep. Sec. for C. M. S. for South of Ireland. He died in 1885.


Stephen Moxley, T.C.D., B.A., 1872; LL.B. 1873; LL.D. 1882. Was ordained Deacon in 1872, at Kilmore, and Priest, in 1873, at Derry. He was Curate of Elphin Cathedral, 1872-76; and Rector of Ardnageehy, Cork, 1876-81.

He resigned Droumdaleague in October, 1882, and went to the Collegiate School, Queenstown, where he died in 1890.

1883. May. EDWIN SANDYS DONOVAN, R. Droumdaleague, vice Moxley.

Donovan became R. Timoleague, Ross, in 1887.

1887. September. THOMAS WAKEHAM, A.B., R. Droumdaleague, vice Donovan.

R. Harbord was Curate from September, 1889, to June, 1894, when he left the diocese for an appointment in Dublin, and was succeeded by W. O. Harvey, who was succeeded by F. Girling, in 1895, who became Curate of Murragh, at Templemartin, in 1901.

The church population of the parish is about 300.
The parish church, situated a little to the east of the village of Drimoleague, is in good order. It was built in 1858.

Divine Service is held on Sundays and festivals at 11.30 and 5. Services are occasionally held in the schoolhouses, and in a parochial hall in the village.

The parish is under diocesan scheme. The assessment is £134, and stipend of Rector, £250, subject to deduction of £20 a year towards the salary of the Curate, which is £120.

The present Incumbent receives a "good service" pension.

There are two parochial schools, under N. B., one at Meenies, about 1½ miles from the village, having about 21 children on roll; the other at Claddagh, about same distance from village, having 40 children.

The Glebe House, situated a little to the south of the village, was built by Revd. W. W. O'Grady, on about ten acres of glebe land, at a rent of £35 a year.

Thomas Wakeham, b. at Youghal 17th February, 1819, second youngest and now only surviving child of the late Revd. Thos. Wakeham, for 35 years in dio. Cloyne (Brady, III., 261).

He entered T.C.D. in 1836; obtained a University Scholarship in 1840; Sen. Mod. and gold medal in Eth. and Log. in 1841; 1st Div. Premium in 1842, and B.A. Ordained Deacon at Midleton, 1847, and Priest, 1848. Curate Ballymodan, Bandon, 1847-51; Curate Kilworth, Cloyne, 1851-53; Curate Rathcooney, Cork, 1853-56; Curate Fanlobbus (Dunmanway), 1856-67; Curate Kilbrogan, Bandon, 1867-72; R. Clonfert, Cloyne, 1872-87.

He married, in December, 1859, Catherine E., fifth dau. of the Revd. William Townsend, Rector of Aghada, Cloyne, and by her, who died 22nd April, 1892, had issue two daughters.

Wakeham resigned in May, 1901, and retired.


Mr. Lord married, in January, 1899, Elizabeth Zena, eldest dau. of the late Horatio Hamilton Townsend, of Coosheen, Schull, Co. Cork, by his wife, Elizabeth, youngest dau. of Nathaniel Webb Ware, of Woodfort, Mallow.
DUNDERROW.

[That is, "the Fortress of the Oak Plain." In the "Book of Leinster," a MS. of the twelfth century, it is called "Dun-der-Maighi." The "dun" still exists, and is called "the Doon."]

1853. February 17. RICHARD FRANCIS WEBB, A.B., R. Dunderrow, on presentation (dated 3rd February, 1853), of the trustees of the late John Cuthbert Kearney, Esq. (Brady). This was an exchange of parishes with James Somerville Reeves, R. Caheragh.

Richard Francis Webb was the eldest son of the Rev. Richard Webb, R. V. Ringrone (Brady), by his marriage, in 1793, with Eliza, dau. of Francis Browne, of Kinsale. Born in 1794, he was ordained Deacon on 20th April, 1817, and Priest 3rd May, 1818, both at Cork. He was Curate of Ringrone in 1817; and Rector of Caheragh from 1818 to 1853, when he became R. Dunderrow.

He married, on 17th September, 1818, Mary, youngest dau. of the Revd. Samuel Beamish, V. Kinsale, by his wife, Mary, dau. of Joshua Hamilton, by Mary, dau. of Sir Richard Cox, of Dunmanway, and had issue four sons—(1) Richard, who married Anna Townsend, dau. of Augustus, nephew of the late Sir Augustus Warren, of Warrenscourt, and had issue; (2) Samuel; (3) John; (4) Henry; and two daughters—Mary, married to William H. Lloyd; and Eliza, married to Thomas Green.

Rev. R. F. Webb's younger brother, the Rev. John Beavor Webb, who was his predecessor in this parish, and who married, on 5th September, 1843, Maria, dau. of Robert Maxwell, of Charleville, had, by her, a son, John, and three daughters—Kathleen, Lilla, and Maria.

Rev. Richard Francis Webb died on the 9th of December, 1872, in his 79th year; and on his death the parish of Dunderrow was united to Kinsale (q.v.)

The glebe house and lands were subsequently sold by R. C. B.
DURRUS AND KILCROHANE.
(With Dunbeacon and Drishane.)

[Durrus means "a dark wood" (or "promontory"). Kilcrohane, perhaps, "the Church of the Hut," or "Hovel," meaning a very small church?]

These parishes were united from time immemorial.


Freke became R. V. Murragh in 1866.

1866. John Pratt, M.A., V. Durrus and Kilcrohane, vice Freke.

The church population is about 430.

There are two churches—the parish church, picturesquely situated at the head of Dunmanus Bay, and a small church at the north side of the parish, at Rooska, on the south side of Bantry Bay. This latter was built in 1866. Durrus parish church was enlarged by the addition of a side aisle in 1867, at a cost of £600, and a chancel built as a gift by the Countess of Bandon.

Divine Service is held in the parish church twice on Sundays and chief festivals; and on alternate Sundays at Rooska in summer.

There is a capital sum of £1,000, the interest of which goes towards the assessment, which is £134, stipend of Rector, £250.

The present Incumbent receives a "good service" pension. He contributes £40 a year to the curate's salary.

There are three parochial schools, viz., Glebe School, N. B.; Rooska, N.B.; and Mollough, Ch. Ed. Socy.

Among the parochial organizations are—Branches of Young Women's Christian Association, and Temperance Society, and a Weekly Men's Bible Class; and there are services and meetings for C. M. S., S. P. G., Jews' Society, Prot. Orph. Socy., Ch. Ed. Socy., Hospitals, Dio. Board of Ed., Island and Coast Socy., etc.

There is an excellent Glebe House, prettily situated close to the church, in 47 acres of glebe land. Rent and taxes amounting to about £74 a year.


(For this family, vide "Burke's Landed Gentry.")

He married, in 1841, Charlotte Louisa, dau. of Michael Murphy, of Newtown, Bantry, brother of Revd. John Murphy, A.B., Treasurer of Cork, and R. Mogeesh, Cloyne (q. v.); and secondly, Eva, dau. of Francis Cole of Blair’s Cove, Co. Cork. Her brother, the Revd. John Francis Cole, is the present Rector of Portarlington.

Curate (ordained in 1898), John N. Whitley, B.A. He became Curate of Kinsale in 1902.

Precentor Pratt died on 29th April, 1902, aged 90 years, and was buried in Durrus churchyard. He was very popular, and a memorial of him is being erected in Durrus Church.


Instituted, 10th June, by the Lord Bishop, in Durrus Church. George Thomas Levis, b. at Myross Cottage, Union Hall, Co. Cork, 17th May, 1866, fifth son of George S. Levis, of Kilbrogan Place, Bandon, by his wife, Martha, dau. of the late John Wood, of Farnivane House, Bandon, and grandson of the late Samuel Levis, of Glenview House, Skibbereen, Co. Cork.


He married, on 3rd September, 1902, Sara May, younger dau. of the Rev. John Quarry Conolly, M.A., Rector of Macroom.

FANLOBBUS.

[That is “Lobbus’ (or Lupus’) Slope.”]

The parishes of Fanloobus and Kinneigh were at one time united. Bishop Dive Downes says that “Contention about a seat gave occasion to the building of Kinneigh and Fanlobbish churches, and dividing the parishes.” The same cause has occasioned many dissensions since.

1855. June 27. WILLIAM ROBERT MOLESWORTH, A.M., V. Fanlobbus (Brady).

W. R. Molesworth was the elder son of Major Bysse Cole
Molesworth, who was fourth son of Robert, the second son of Bysse, seventh son of the first Viscount Molesworth.

He grad. B.A., T.C.D., in 1829; M.A. 1832. He was ordained Deacon, 18th December, 1831, and Priest 29th July, 1832. He was V. of Ardfield, Ross, from 1842 to 1847; and V. of Drinagh, Cork, from 1847 to 1855.

He died in December, 1866.

His brother, Herbert Phillips Molesworth, was Curate of Kilbrogan, Bandon, for nine years, till his death, on the 1st July, 1847, of the famine fever. There is a fine mural tablet to his memory in Kilbrogan Church.

1867. January. JAMES PERCIVAL MYLES, V. Fanlobbus, per mortem Molesworth.

J. P. Myles was born in Limerick on 21st October, 1821. He was son of James Myles, by his wife, Sarah, dau. of William Taylor. Was educated at Revd. Gorman Greggs School, Limerick. T.C.D. B.A., 1847, and Div. Test. (2nd class); M.A. 1872. He was ordained Deacon, in 1847, by Bp. of Tuam; and Priest, in 1848, by Bp. of Killaloe. He was Curate of Kilmoe, 1847-65; R. V. Kilcoe and Clear, 1865-67.

He resigned Fanlobbus in 1872, and went to England, where he was Mission Preacher in Bristol from 1872 to 1875, when he became Vicar of St. Matthias-on-the-Weir, till, in 1887, he became Rector of West Kington, Wilts, which post he held till not long before his death, which occurred at Clifton, on the 14th of July, 1902, in the 81st year of his age.

He married, on 11th of May, 1848, Louisa, dau. of James McMullen, of Cork, and had issue six children.

1872. GEORGE DEACON, R. Fanlobbus, vice Myles.

Fanlobbus parish church, St. Mary's, Dunmanway, built on its ancient site, and consecrated in 1822, has undergone much improvement in late years, and is now a beautiful one. There are several old mural tablets, brought from the former church when the present was built in 1821; and it was subsequently enlarged by the addition of a transept. In the present Incumbent's time a chancel has been added, and an organ chamber built. In the chancel is a handsome 3-light window, presented by the late O'Donovan, D.L., as a memorial of his brother-in-law, William Lemuel Shuldham, and his wife. There are mural tablets to the Cox family and others. The old ceiling of the nave has been replaced by an open pitch-pine roof, besides various other improvements, which have cost more than £1,000.

A beautiful pulpit of Caen stone and marble has been
erected to the memory of Harriet Lady Carbery by her husband. There is a fine memorial window in the transept to Dr. Holmes, of Carrigmore, and his wife. A handsome brass lectern has recently been dedicated to the memory of Mrs. Wagner.

The church population is about 470.

There are about 50 dissenters.

The parish is under diocesan scheme. The assessment is £180, and stipend of Rector, £320. He is chaplain of Dunmanway Workhouse. There is also a curate.

Divine Service is held in Dunmanway Church on Sundays and festivals at 12 noon and 6 p.m. Holy Communion on second and fourth Sundays at 8.30 a.m.; on other Sundays, after Morning Prayer. There is Evening Service on Fridays at 7.45.

There is a parochial school, having about 20 children on roll.

There is no glebe house or land.


He married, and had issue several children

He died suddenly at Dunmanway on the 22nd of May, 1900, aged 70.


J. Q. Conolly, junior, B.A., Curate.


He married, 2nd June, 1892, Annie Eva Martha, dau. of Revd. John Quarry Conolly, R. of Macroom, Co. Cork, and has issue—Eva Mary Dorothy; Geo. Ernest, b. 1895; Ailsa Margaret; John Quarry, b. 1900.

Healy became R. Holy Trinity, Cork, in September, 1902.


Instituted by the Lord Bishop in Dunmanway Church on 27th.

(For Donovan, see Timoleague, Ross.)
FRANKFIELD.

This was formerly a chapelry of ease to St. Fin Barre's, but was made a separate district in charge of an Incumbent, under Trustees.


Incumbents have been:—
R. S. Gregg, from 1862 to 1865.
R. U. Leslie, from 1865 to 1873.
R. F. Clarke, from 1873 to 1883.
A. Wilson, from 1884 to 1890.
J. A. James, from 1890 to 1892.
A. J. Johnston, from 1892 to 1897.
C. R. Longfield, from 1897 to 1899.

The church population of the district is about 85.

Improvements in Frankfield Church have been—Vestry room turned into a chancel; old-fashioned pulpit and reading desk removed; also old high, square pews; three stained glass windows in chancel, and two in nave; walnut lectern, etc.

Divine Service is held on Sundays and chief festivals at 11.30 a.m. Holy Communion on first, third, and fifth (if there be) Sundays.

There is an endowment of £96 per annum.

There is no glebe house or land.


Silver plate belonging to Frankfield Church consists of two chalices, two patens, and one flagon. All bear the date 1838, and have the inscription—"Frankfield Church. Presented by Samuel Lane, of Frankfield."